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John's Story
1943
April 3 Made my lirst parachute jump at 11 PM over 10/10 cloud.

4 Spent the day hiding in a field, started walking in the evening
5 Accompanied 2 Dutch policemen to the police station then went for a

motorcycle ride with 2 German NCOs to Rotterdam. Met 5 others of
the crew, then we all went to Amsterdam by electric train

For John Colwell this was the start of his being a Prisoner of War in Germany.
These were the first of his daily entries in his log as a prisoner.

His Early Years
John was born l4e December, 1916 inNeemuch, Central India, where his

father Dr. H. H. Colwell was serving as a Medical Missionary. He has two older
sisters, Louise and Lorna, who were both Nurses and live in Victoria BC. They were
born in Canada. A younger brother Wiliarq born in Arabia, joined the Canadian
Scottish Regiment but was killed in WW II in the battle at the Leopold Canal. A
younger brother George died of pneumonia at an early age. Dr. Colwell also served
out of India with the British Army in WW I. When his service with them was
completed in 1933 he and his family came to Nanaimo where he was intent on being
a chicken farmer. When he arived in town he hired a taxi and told the driver he
wanted to buy a farm with good climactic conditions and a stream running tluough'it.
He purchased a large piece of land on White Rapids Road offExtension Road.

For two years John rode his bicycle to the John Shaw School, in downtown
Nanaimo, to complete his high schooling. Thereafter he worked on the family farm
pro{ucing chickens and eggs. They sold their eggs through a local merchant brrt the
operation was not as profitable as the Doctor had hoped it would be.

The War Years
,.,.r1

When WW II started the Doctor joined the Army Medical Corp. His eafly
service was at the Military bases on Vancouver Island. He later did inspections of
bases across Canada. They kept the farm but at this time John's mother moved to 969
Jervis St. Vancouver.

In 1940 all young men not already in uniform or employed in an "essential"
job were required to take one month of compulsory Military service. While so doing
in Victoria John decided to apply to join the Royal Canadian Air Force intent on
becoming a pilot. In June 1940 he reported to the recruiting office, was inducted and
sent to #2 Manning Depot in Brandon Manitoba for his basic training. Thirty days
later he was posted to # 2I.T.S. (Initial Training School) in Regina Saskatchewan.

I.T.S. was where airmen aspiring to be aircrew were classified or weeded out.
John excelled in the mathematics and geometry tests. Those were the skills the air
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force wanted for an Air Observer and he was so designated. He completed the course.
Unfortunately his bunk had been next to that of an airman who at the end of the
course was found to have Scarlet Fever or some such communicable disease. As a
result John was held over in quarantine for a month while his classmates moved on.

He was posted to #3 A.O.S. (Air Observer School) across town in Regina
where he made tis firct flight the 20h September 1941. On 22'd December 19 41 with
80 hours flymg time,12 uirright, his Navigation Course was completed. On 29h of
Decernber, after a week of leave over Christmas, he reportedto #2 B & G (Bombing
and Gunnery) school at Mossbank Saskatchewan about 75 miles south west of
Regina. His logbook says, during the one-month course, he dropped 75 bombs and
fued 1475 rounds and passed the course. He was awarded his coveted Observers wing
and promoted to Sergeant. This time he received two weeks leave which would give
him time to travel by train back to Vancouver to visit family.

The approximately seven months John spent in or near Regina was very
important to his personal future. Through a fellow Navigator, Hal Parker, he was
introduced to Miss Fern Rodger. Their relationship blossomed and strengthened when
he went overseas. She maintained a flow ofmail and parcels while he was away.

He reported for his next course l$ of February l942to #1 A.N.S. (Advanced
Navigation School) at Rivers Manitoba. In two weeks he flew over 34 hours, the
majority at nigtrt. His last flight there was 2nd of March. He was not to fly again until
29n ofMay, in England. Part of those twelve weeks was taken up with two weeks
Embarkation Leave, plus travel time to Halifax by train. While in Halifa( awaiting
the formation of a convoy the troops did guard duty and answered roll calls.

On arrival in England he reported to a P.R.C. (Personnel Relocation Centre)
where he would await posting. That was to be to #2"O" A.F.U. (Observers Advanced
Flying UniQ at Millonl Cumberland. It was a one-month course leading up to his
next posting to #23 O.T.U. (Operational Training Unit) at Pershore, Worcester. After
some leave in which he saw some of England he reported to the O.T.U. and
commenced flying 26tr of July. It was here that aircrew of different trades got to
know each other and eventually'trewed-up". One ofthe exercises was "blind
flying". All operational aircraft maintained strict radio silence. As a navigational aid
the Air force broadcast beams in predetermined directions. Being at the point where
two beams crossed gave an aircraft a positive'fx". This was particularly useful for
bombing raids.

Flying On "Ops"
In late Sepember the crew was posted to #405 Squadron at Topcliffe,

Yorkshire. They again trained, familiarizing themselves with the Halifax bomber and
another base, Beaulieu, Hampshire from which they would fly when they were
attached to coastal command.

Coastal Comrnand operational flights were all made over the water, mainly in
search of U-boats. On one ten-hour fligtrt they spotted a dinghy with three men in it.
It was offthe west coast of England. The weather and sea were very rough. They
reported the sighting but it took two days for a rescue ship to find them. John, on
following up on the outcome, found the men had been saved.



3

They often flew in unpredicted bad weather and winds. There were few
Navigation aids. Their search altitudes could be from 200 feet to 3000 feet.
Occasionally when returning to base they had to land and refuel at the first airdrome
they came to. On one occasion they were forced to land at a drome at Lands End.
They not only needed fuel, one radiator was leaking and needed replacing. The Air
force said it would take a week to get parts and a mechanical crew in to fix it. John
and his crew solved the problem. They scrounged a radiator and did the repairs
themselves.

The west coast of France had many U-boats operating out of their harbors.
John and crew made many patrols as far south as Spain. They made twenty-six airlsea
patrols over the Atlantic and Bay ofBiscay.

In March of 1943 the Squadron was transferred to Bomber Comrnand. During
the month they participated in raids on Stuttgard and Essen in Germany and a raid on
a U-boat berth at St. Nazaire on the west coast of France.

April3d 1943 the crew was slated for a trip. They attended the briefing, it was
to be a raid on Essen. They had been there before. Take offwas at 0925 horns. They
climbed to height and arrived on time over the target with the main stream of
bombers.

As usual there was lots of Flack (Anti aircraft shell fragments). Over the
target flack that hit them damaged their Astro Compass. When their bombs were gone
John gave the pilot a northerly course that was supposed to put them in the main
bomber stream returning to England. Because of the compass damage the aircraft was
actually heading west instead of north. About 80 miles west of Essen they realized
they were alone. Alone that is, except for an unseen German night-fighter who came
up underneath them firing his cannon and machine guns. The bomber was so
damaged that the pilot had to give the order'?repare to Bail Out".

John's Navigation table was above the escape hatch. He was still working at
it trying to establish their position. Out of the corner of his eye he saw the
crewmernbers lining up beside him ready to bail out. He quickly folded up the table,
secured it against the wall, ejected the escape hatch and dropped through the hole.
The recommended way to bail out was headfirst. In this instance it was quicker for
John to go feet first.

He landed on a small island in the estuary ofthe Maas River about 20
Kilometers south west of Rotterdam in Holland. The island was big enough to contain
two or three small farms. The evening of April4, when he "started walking" he
approached a farmhouse hoping for food and shelter. The people had company and
were playing cards. They were kind and sympathetic. They told him the rest of the
crew had been captured and the police were looking for him. He would be caught and
it would be best for him to surender. He had a good meal and a sleep and the police
were called in the moming.

His log that follows tells the rest ofthe story.
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High Speed Tunnelling 
 
 
 

 
 

Stove which rested on the tiled base to camouflage Harry’s trapdoor. 
 
 
 



The Tunnels: 'Tom', 'Dick' and 'Harry' 
 
The tunnel entrances were masterpieces of deception. All barrack huts were elevated from the ground but 
each had stoves set on a brick and concrete plinth. 'Tom' (the 98th tunnel to be discovered at Luft III) in Hut 105 
and 'Harry' in Hut 104 both exited through the center of these pierced foundations. The entrance to 'Dick' is still 
there - concealed in a drain on the floor of the shower room in Hut 122, and when closed and sealed was 
under several feet of water. The Germans never found it and it probably still contains much contraband and 
escape material. (Anyone got an accurate plan of the camp, a passport, and a shovel?) 
 
Sudden pounces by the ferrets were a constant nightmare and precision practice was required by the 
distraction and camouflage teams. ln one close shave, F/L Pat Langford (16 OTU, shot down 28/29 Jul 1942, 
Wellington Mk Ic, R1450), replaced and fully camouflaged Harry's trapdoor in twenty seconds, leaving no sign 
of a tunnel entrance. German security was headed by Hauptmann (Captain) Broili and Oberfeldwebel 
(Warrant Officer) Glemnitz. The latter, usually referred to as "that bastard, Glemnitz" was both feared and 
respected by the prisoners, as he was a dedicated discoverer of escape plots. 
 
Sand dispersal was effected by 'Penguins', prisoners filling long thin bags which were slipped inside their 
trousers and walking about the compound, losing the sand from the bottom of the bags. One penguin was 
careless and the ferrets spotted him trailing sand; they then knew a tunnel was in progress, but they did not 
pounce, wanting to find out where it originated. 
 
Tunnelling was dangerous - both below ground and above it. The sand was treacherous, and would come 
crashing down with only the ghost of a warning. Many diggers had only time to protect their heads with their 
arms as the roof suddenly caved in, and hope that their No.2 could dig them out. No-one was killed, but 
several were forced to take days off after almost being suffocated. A fall left a large dome above the working 
face, and after clearing up, the damaged roof was shored and the sand packed back above it. The diggers 
found that sand dug out occupied thirty percent as much space again as it did normally, placing extra burdens 
on the disposal teams. 
 
4,000 bed boards were removed to form the shoring, and prisoners became used to sleeping on the barest of 
supports - often a string semi-hammock, with only two or three real bed boards. The tunnel size was therefore 
dictated by the width of the boards, almost exactly two feet square, allowing a little for the alignment of the 
wood at each corner of the square. "Cookie" Long suffered concussion when a bed board fell the full height of 
the entrance shaft - 30 feet - and hit him square on the head. Another prisoner received a similar direct hit from 
a German-issue metal water-carrier, being used to bring sand up from the working to the surface. 
 
The teams dug out large chambers at the foot of the entrance shafts for the air pump and storage, and took it 
in turns to operate the manual pump. As the tunnel progressed, empty dried-milk tins were laid under the floor, 
and caulked with tape or waxed string, provided very effective ventilation, with the flue being camouflaged into 
the genuine stove's chimney. A wooden railway carried small trucks for sand removal along the bed of the 
tunnel, the trolleys being pulled from haulage points at intervals along the length. Red Noble spotted an 800 
foot coil of electrical flex unattended by German workmen and 'liberated' it; the tunnel was then wired for 
electric light. The workmen didn't report the theft and were later executed by the Gestapo when the tunnel was 
discovered. (Joe "Red" Noble stayed with the RCAF after WW2 and ended up as a Group Captain. He lived on 
Lake Huron, Canada, and died some years ago.) 
 
The Germans were aware that something major was going on but all attempts to discover tunnels failed. As a 
desperate move, 19 top suspects, including 6 key men, were transferred with no warning to the nearby Stalag 
Luft VIIIC at Belaria, only weeks before the escape was scheduled to take place. Bushell's part in the Escape 
Committee was well camouflaged and the Germans left him behind. Deputies took over from the missing 
prisoners, and work went on. 
 
 
 
 
 



Even when the Luftwaffe removed all the increasing number of American airmen to their own, separate 
compound, work on the tunnels did not stop. (Communication between the separate compounds was 
forbidden, but the British placed a semaphore expert well inside one hut which faced the US airmen’s 
compound. He was concealed from the guards, but visible on the other side of the wire. The US airmen soon 
spotted him, and communications were quickly resumed.) 
 
'Dick' was abandoned when the area in which it was to have surfaced was suddenly cleared of trees and a new 
compound built there. However, the abortive short tunnel proved an ideal place for concealing the growing 
amount of false clothing and general contraband, as well as providing a workshop for the manufacturers. Later, 
when sand disposal fell well behind the digging, much of the surplus sand was shovelled down 'Dick'. 
 
Eventually, even this proved insufficient and the X Committee faced major disposal problems. Eventually it 
dawned on them that there was a huge closed-off area under the seats of the Theatre. Some time before, the 
Germans had allowed this to be built, using tools and equipment supplied on parole. Such equipment was 
never used for other purposes, and the parole system was regarded as inviolate. But did this also include the 
results of the paroled equipment, i.e. the Theatre itself? The tools had been properly returned, after all ... 
internal "legal advice" was taken, and the SBO's decision was that the popular and very successful Theatre 
itself did not fall within the parole system. Seat 13 was therefore hinged and camouflaged, and the vast space 
beneath used for sand disposal. 
 
Many excellent shows were put on in the Theatre, which had an enviable standard. Post-war British Theatre 
and Television "names" such as Talbot Rothwell, Roy Dotrice, George Cole, and Peter Butterworth appear in 
the Luft Ill programmes. Geoffrey Willatt told me that the Theatre Shows were certainly "one of the redeeming 
features of the camp." Rupert Davies, of "Maigret" fame, also featured in productions. 
 
Anyone interested in POW Camp Theatres and Actors should look at the page devoted to the British actor 
Michael Goodliffe. Even a highly simplistic calculation shows that at the barest minimum, for Harry alone the 
prisoners had to dispose of a staggering ((336 + 28 + 30) x 4) = 1,536 cubic feet of sand. In practice, the actual 
figure was well over double this, as it does not include the sand excavated for either Tom or Dick or the 
amount of extra sand removed after roof fa!!s, or the addition of haulage, air pumping and storage chambers. I 
estimate that for the Great Escape only, the prisoners disposed of a figure in the region of 140 cubic metres, 
200 tons of sand, which works out to almost an entire large truck or lorry containerful. A lot of sand. 
 
 

 
 
 
 



A breakdown of the materials used in constructing the three tunnels went as follows, and illustrates the 
magnitude and logistical problems of the project. This list does not include materials used for false papers and 
fake civilian clothing, nor the man-hours necessary to actually build the tunnels, or the problems associated 
with spiriting away the items used in the tunnel construction: 
 

4,000 bed boards;  
1,370 beading battens;  
1,699 blankets;  
161 pillow cases; 
635 palliasses;  
34 chairs;  
52 20-man tables;  
90 double tier bunks;  
1,219 knives;  
478 spoons;  
582 forks;  
30 shovels;  
1,000 feet of electric wire;  
600 feet of rope;  
192 bed covers; 
3,424 towels; 
1,212 bed single tables;  
76 benches; 
246 water cans; 
69 lamps. 

 
This list is taken from a German account of what went missing after being issued to the prisoners. 
 
As Tom neared completion in summer 1943, a ferret discovered the entrance and the Germans destroyed it all. 
Concentration switched to 'Harry' which in March 1944 reached the length of 336 feet (some sources say 360 
feet, but this may have included the vertical shafts), 28 feet down. Would-be escapers were divided into two 
groups: 
 

-Those German-speakers and experienced escapers who stood a good chance of making a 
"home run" to England, and those who had made the greatest contribution to the construction of 
the tunnel. These men were given priority with forged papers, "civilian" clothes, and a higher 
place in the exit order. They were expected to travel by train, masquerading as foreign workers. 
Germany at the time was flooded with genuine foreign workers, who often spoke no German 
and whose papers were frequently out of order. 

 
-The "hard-arsers" who filled the rest of the tunnel places were planning to lie up by day and 
foot-slog by night, over hundreds of miles of enemy territory. Equipped with only the most 
rudimentary false papers and identities, much praise is due to this group of men, who knew that 
their chances - especially in winter – were thin. Most of them had baked iron rations known as 
"fudge" which was poured into small, pocket-sized tins, and intended as survival food. The rest 
of the prisoners drew lots, and 220 men prepared to go on the night of 24/25 Mar 1944. Snow 
still lay on the ground and the night time temperature was below freezing. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



More Memories of Stalag Luft III Days 
 
The log was written pretty much day by day. Items that he wanted to record but were not for the eyes of 
"Goons" who might examine his log were written on separate pieces of paper. Remember the clock? It was run 
by weights (tin cans filled with sand) like a grandfather’s clock. The pieces of paper were rolled up and put in 
the cans, which were then refilled with sand. These items were then added to the pages of the log when he 
was FREE. 
 
As soon as John's family was made aware of his whereabouts in Stalag Luft III he started getting mail from 
Fern and his mother and others. He and his mother sometimes communicated in Hindi as the Goon censors 
could not read it. 
 
The pieces of metal lifted from the goon workshop pictured on Page 54, were acquired when John was to 
make prosthesis for an R.A.F. officer who, when shot down, had lost his leg below his knee. The goon 
commandant recognized John's talent so he was allowed to go with the prisoner and a guard to the goon 
workshop to make and fit the new leg. John's friend was on crutches. He was the one who slipped the two 
pieces of metal up his sleeve. On the way back to barracks, as he swung along, the pieces kept slipping down 
into his hand. It was a serious offence to steal something like that so he was sweating. But they made it. 
 
Tunnel "Harry" was a very ambitious project. Its starting point was under the hearth of a stove in a hut. All 
bunks were made of wooden slats about 36 inches long. These boards became the cribbing for the tunnel, so 
dictated its dimensions. As the digging advanced, prisoners gave up slats from their bunks and the bunks 
became more uncomfortable with those empty spaces under their thin mattresses. 
 
Remember the Theatre on page 29? It had a three-foot sealed concrete crawl space under it to prevent any 
monkey business by prisoners. It was an ideal space though, to store sand. John had a crew of about six men 
for that purpose. One of the seats near the back of the theater had a hole under it. After dark and before 
curfew (10 PM) John and his crew went down into the crawl space. Others workers surreptitiously carried 50 to 
100-pound bags of sand and dumped them down the hole. They had spotters at key points around the 
campground watching all the goon guards. If the goons came in sight signals were given and the sand work 
ceased so there was no noise or suspicious movements. 
 
John had made a basin with a rope attached to one side of it. He and his crew were in the crawl space 
awaiting the sand drops into the basin. They pulled it to where they were packing the sand. They didn't waste 
any space. It was packed and tamped right up to the floor between the joists. Because of the confined space 
and no ventilation, oxygen could get in short supply down there. When their light source, boiled margarine oil 
with a wick in it, flickered and went out it was the warning to get out. 
 
At first, they used the margarine lamps in the tunnels. One day the Goon electrician came to the camp to install 
loudspeakers. When he went up on the roof they stole his ladder and a large coil of wire. Now they had a 
ladder for the tunnel shaft and the tunnel was wired for electric lights. Current came from the electricity in the 
huts. The only problem was when Berlin was being bombed. All camp electricity was shut off. But the 
explosions and fires in Berlin provided "daylight" at the camp. 
 
The tunnel had a railroad track with a car for hauling the sand from the digging face to the shaft. The sand car 
was a food parcel box with wheels on it. There was a rope on each end of it. The first man to go digging pulled 
the rope and car, filled it up and on signal it was pulled back to dump. The car served another purpose. On 
ESCAPE night, the escapees rode on the sand car to the escape shaft using the pull-pull system 
 
"Tom" tunnel was discovered when suspicious goons were snooping around with pick axes. They drove one in 
someplace and hit the big hole. It took the goons some time to figure out how to dispose of the tunnel. They 
decided to dynamite it. That went off with a bang and they blew a slab of cement right up through the roof of 
the hut to the delight of the POWs. Everyone had been moved out of that building 
 
"George" tunnel was not to be used for escaping. The prisoners knowing the war would end soon were afraid if 
the German guards abandoned the camp the German civilian population might rise against the POWs for 



revenge for all the bombing. They formed a commando group who would use the tunnel to get outside to 
protect the camp and prisoners. 
 
It was thought about 300 prisoners would be able to escape through “Harry”. They drew numbers. John's log 
says he was #147. The tunnel was about 370 feet long and was meant for the escape shaft to come up in the 
woods outside the camp. They were a few feet short of the trees and while 76 escaped, the 77th was caught. 
 
After the escape the remaining prisoners were lined up for hours for roll calls and ID checks. They would be 
marched through a funnel of guards for checks. Some of the prisoners would get around into the line again to 
screw up the count. 
 

Free 
 
On 2 May 1945, the Goons deserted when the British tanks arrived. The Allied tanks and troops were not 
equipped to deal with a mass of POWs. John and a few went to a nearby farm where they were welcome and 
would have food and shelter. 
 
In three days, busses arrived to take them to an airport. From there Lancaster bombers flew them to England. 
They received good food, medical checks, and new uniforms and were soon on their way to Canada. John 
made a B-line for Regina where Fern was waiting. They visited her hometown of Ravens Craig in southwest 
Saskatchewan. And might have married there. However, Fern worked for Imperial Oil in Regina and she had 
promised her boss she would work a further two months. So, they became engaged and John headed for the 
family farm near Nanaimo to prepare a home for Fern. He received his discharge from the Air Force at Jericho 
Beach base in Vancouver. 
 
Fern arrived in Vancouver on schedule. On 2 Oct 1945 they were married in Vancouver in the home of Mrs. 
Neta Smith who had been John's teacher in India. She is now over one hundred years of age. John and Fern 
then made their home on the 256-acre farm near Nanaimo, B.C. They raised two children, son William of 
Mission, B.C. and a daughter Patricia living in Lantzville, B.C. 
 
John continued to be as resourceful as ever. Being beyond the power lines, he built a water wheel and wired 
the house and farm buildings. He had about 50 head of cattle and sold milk. He was active in the Boy Scout 
movement and served from Assistant Cub Master to District Commissioner. He was active in archery. He was 
interested in crafts of all kinds and was a founder of the Jonanco Hobby Club, to which he donated land for a 
clubhouse. 
 
John and Fern are enjoying semi-retirement and have a nice home on top of a cliff overlooking their estate. 
 

 
 

John and Fern in their home, November 1991 



Key Personnel 
 
Tunnel engineering was in the expert hands of Floody, a Canadian Spitfire pilot and prewar mining engineer. 
The original 'Tunnel King', he masterminded the construction of all three tunnels, aided by F/L R. G. "Crump" 
Ker-Ramsey (Fighter Interception Unit, shot down on a night patrol 13/14 Sep 1940, Blenheim IVF Z5721), 
Henry "Johnny" Marshall, Fanshawe, and a host of others. The dapper Rhodesian Johnny Travis and his 
team of manufacturers made escape kit such as compasses from fragments of broken Bakelite gramophone 
records, melted and shaped and incorporating a tiny needle made from slivers of magnetised razor blades. 
Stamped on the underside was 'Made in Stalag Luft 3 - Patent Pending'. 
 
F/L Des Plunkett (218 Sqn, shot down 20/21 Jun 1942, Stirling l, W7530 HA-Q) and his team assumed 
responsibility for map making. Real ID papers and passes were obtained by bribery or theft from the guards 
and copied by F/L 'Tim' Walenn and his forgers. These two departments were known as "Dean and Dawson" 
after a well-known firm of travel agents. Service uniforms were carefully recut by Tommy Guest and his men, 
who also produced workmen’s clothes and other 'civilian' attire. These were often hidden in spaces created by 
ace carpenter Pilot Officer (P/O) "Digger" Macintosh (12 Sqn, shot down 12 May 1940, Battle l, L5439 PH-
N). 
 
A surprising number of guards proved co-operative in supplying railway timetables, maps, and the bewildering 
number of official papers required for escapers. One tiny mistake in forgery, or one missing document would 
immediately betray the holder, a problem complicated by the fact that the official stamps and appearance of 
the various papers were changed regularly by the Germans. It was necessary to obtain details of the lie of the 
land directly outside the camp, and especially ascertain the location of the nearest railway station (arriving 
POWs were brought by military road transport). 
 
Bribery by cigarettes, coffee or chocolate usually worked. ln one case, a less than intelligent guard provided 
key information for which he was paid in chocolate. The prisoner asked him to sign a receipt, explaining that it 
was necessary to account for the chocolate with the others in his mess group. The guard obliged, and was 
soon blackmailed into bringing in a camera and film, Bushell being quite ruthless in exploiting such 
opportunities. 
 
Forged papers included Dienstausweise (a brown card printed on buckram, giving permission to be on 
Wehrmacht property), Urlaubscheine (a yellow form used as a leave-chit for foreign workers), 
Ruckkehrscheine (a pink form for foreign workers returning home), Kennkarte (a light grey general identity 
card), Sichtvermark (visa), Ausweise and Vorlaufweise (pass and temporary pass). Many of these were as 
complex as banknotes and required weeks of work to reproduce. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



The Escape Committee 
 
At Luft III arrived some of the finest escape artists in the Allied Air Forces. Squadron Leader (S/L) Roger J. 
Bushell, CO of No 92 Sqn (shot down 23 May 1940, Spitfire I N3194) during the Battle of France. On a 
previous escape he had been hiding in Prague and was caught in the aftermath of the Heydrich assassination. 
The family hiding him were all executed by the Gestapo and Jack Zaphouk, his Czech co-escaper, was 
purged to Colditz Castle. Bushell developed a cold unyielding hatred for the enemy but failed, however, to 
distinguish between the Gestapo and the far better type represented by the Camp Kommandant. 
 
 

 
 

Group Captain Harry "Wings" Day (IWM) 
 
 
Although the first SBO (Senior British Officer) was Group Captain (G/C) Harry "Wings" Day (57 Sqn, shot 
down 13 Oct 1939, Blenheim l, L1138), he was succeeded by the arrival in June 1942 of a more senior officer, 
G/C Herbert M. Massey (7 Sqn, shot down 1/2 Jun 1942, Stirling l, N3750 MG-D) a rugged veteran WW1 
pilot, and in October 1942 Wings Day was sent to Offizierlager (Oflag, or Officer Camp) XXIB. Bushell 
masterminded the Luft lll Escape Organization, together with an executive committee of Flying Officer (F/O) 
Wally Floody (J5481; 401 Sqn RCAF, shot down 28 Oct 1941, Spitfire V W3964), Peter 'Hornblower' 
Fanshawe RN and Flight Lieutenant (F/L) George Harsh (102 Sqn, shot down 5/6 Oct 1942, Halifax Il, 
W7824). 
 
Bushell collected the most skilled forgers, tailors, tunnel engineers and surveillance experts and announced his 
intention to put 250 men outside the wire. This would cause a tremendous problem and force the enemy to 
divert men and resources to round up the escapers. His idea was not so much to return escapers to the UK but 
mainly to cause a giant internal problem for the German administration. He went about this task with a typical 
determinedness, despite having been officially warned that his next escape and recapture would result in him 
being shot. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Food and Parcels 
 
Had it not been for food parcels sent in via the International Red Cross (who also made inspection visits), food 
would have been a serious problem in all POW camps. Issued with little more than starvation rations, food 
parcels sent by relatives, despite being regularly stolen by the many hands through which they passed, were 
essential. It should be borne in mind that the guards themselves were not much better off than the prisoners, in 
terms of food. On average, one parcel per week per man was provided. 
 
The rule in most of the camps was that both "individual" (for a named person, sent and paid for by relatives 
and containing a mixture of goods) and "bulk" parcels (for general distribution, sent and paid for by the 
International Red Cross, and containing a supply of a single item) were pooled. Thus, replacement clothing, 
shaving and washing kit, coffee, tea, tinned meat, jam, sugar and essentials were distributed equally. 
 
ln many other camps, captured officers were paid an equivalent of their pay in "lagergeld" or internal camp 
currency, and could buy items such as musical instruments and what few everyday goods which were 
available. Captured NCO's did not receive any such allowance, but the officers regularly pooled lagergeld from 
their own pay, and transferred these to the NCOs' compound. It was strictly forbidden to be in possession of 
real German currency, a vital escape aid. However, for some reason in Luft III, lagergeld was not issued. 
 
An internal official method of collective bargaining and bartering called "Foodacco" was set up, allowing POWs 
to market any surplus food or desirable item, for "points" which could be "spent" on other items, amongst 
themselves. Great trouble was taken in food preparation, with special occasions such as a birthday or 
Christmas requiring months of hoarding. POWs usually banded together in groups of 8 men for cooking and 
messing purposes, and such groups usually became very close-knit. 
 
The recommended intake for a normal healthy active man is 3,000 calories; German rations allowed between 
1,500 and 1,900. It was a case of the issued official rations providing prolonged and unpleasant starvation and 
only the Red Gross food parcels saved the day. 
 
Clothing was often a problem, items of civilian nature being strictly forbidden and military uniform often being 
cobbled together from whatever was available, regardless of branch. Thus, it was not unusual to see officers of 
any rank in RAF battledress top, Army trousers, and whatever footwear was to hand. Most men made every 
attempt to maintain a military bearing, ensuring that their rank and flying badges were correct no matter what 
they were attached to! Any officer who had hidden a genuine civilian item of clothing took great care to keep it 
safe. 
 
It was absolutely vital to carry aircrew badges and brevets in a secret place whilst escaping, in order to prove 
that an escapee was not a spy. The Geneva Convention dictated that a serviceman should always wear 
uniform, or be shot as a spy. Being able to produce evidence of being an escaped POW was essential. The 
Germans issued each captive with an official POW identity disc which could also be used to establish a man's 
genuine identity. 
 
Newcomers to the camp had to be personally vouched for by two existing POWs who knew them by sight. As 
the numbers of airmen increased, this became essential as it was not unknown for the Germans to introduce 
infiltrators in an attempt to spy on camp operations and escape attempts. Such infiltrators were known as 
"stool pigeons". Any newcomer who could not summon two men who knew him had to suffer the indignity of a 
heavy interrogation by senior officer POWs. Also, he was assigned a rota of men who had to escort him at all 
times, until he was deemed to be genuine. Any stool pigeons were quickly discovered and there is no evidence 
to suggest that infiltrators operated successfully at Luft III. 
 
Several POWs established means of exchanging coded messages with their relatives, via the Red Cross mail 
system. Such letters, which were heavily censored by the Germans, were invariably months in transit, but 
provided valuable information to the War Office. This coding was usually a pre-arranged method agreed 
between an airman and his wife, girlfriend or relative, such as taking every 9th word, or similar method. 
 
 



The Escapers Get Away 
 
As night fell, those allocated a place on the tunnel moved to Hut 104. Prisoners, nerves at cracking-point, were 
terrified to see a German soldier enter the hut. It was F/O Pawel Tobolski, (301 Sqn, shot down over Bremen, 
25/26 Jun 1942, Wellington IV, Z1479 GR-A) dressed for his escape as a German soldier, travelling in 
company with W/C Day. (l was very pleased to receive emails from and subsequently meet F/O Tobolski's son, 
Paul, who had seen this page.) On opening the far end at 2215, F/L Johnny Bull discovered that the tunnel 
mouth was well short of the tree line and within 30 yards of the nearest watch tower. But guards were watchful 
towards the compound and did not shine their searchlights outside. The first escaper went onto the trolley 
railway at 2230. 
 
Prowling sentries circled outside the wire, passing at intervals between the tree line and the camp compound. 
Snow lay on the ground and it was impossible for the escapers not to leave a trail as they hastily crawled out of 
the exit and into the cover of the trees. This greatly slowed the passage of escapers, a situation worsened by 
an air raid which made the Germans switch off the power, forcing the use of fat lamps inside the tunnel. 
 
It was soon apparent in Hut 104 that things were going badly wrong, but little news filtered back from the far 
end of the tunnel. A request for a long length of rope was fulfilled, but the passage of men stalled. Although the 
briefing had called for each man to ride the tiny railway trolley, being pulled by the previous man, once the 
tunnel had swallowed the first couple of dozen, no more were being called. The dispatcher, waiting at the 
tunnel entrance, had no more idea what was wrong than did the long queue of impatient and highly-strung 
men. 
 
The necessity to wait until the circuiting sentries were not close to the tunnel exit, and the need to exercise 
great discretion in sending the next man out, considerably slowed the throughput. Instead of one man every 
minute, the escape was reduced to a dozen per hour. Word was sent back that those men with escape 
numbers higher than 100 had no chance of escaping. Since exiting Hut 104 during the curfew to return to their 
own huts would entail being shot at by the guards, they lay down where they could to await daylight. By dawn, 
only 76 men had made their escape into the darkness beyond the trees. 
 
At 0455, by which time 87 escapers had left Hut 104, F/L Shand at the mouth of the tunnel was awaiting the 
signal to go. ln the woods was F/L Langlois (12 Sqn, shot down 5 Aug 1941, Wellington II, W5421 PH-G) who 
could see that a patrolling sentry had deviated from his beat and would tread within a few feet of the tunnel. He 
tugged at the signal rope, meaning "stay put." Shand, thinking this was the opposite signal, emerged from the 
tunnel right under the feet of the guard, who until then had passed by. For some seconds he did not see the 
tracks in the snow and body-heat steam drifting upwards from the tunnel mouth. Finally noticing the signs, he 
raised his rifle, fired a wild shot at Langlois (which missed) and blew his whistle. F/L Laurence Reavell-Carter 
(49 Sqn, shot down 26/27 Jun 1940, Hampden I P4305) and F/L Ogilvie, waiting in the woods, ran for it and 
so did Shand. The next man in the tunnel, S/L McBride, was apprehended at rifle point, and S/L Len Trent 
(487 Sqn, shot down 3 May 1943, Ventura II AJ209, EG-G) a holder of the VC and DSO, lying face down just 
inside the tree line, stood up and surrendered. (John CIinch has a web page devoted to F/L Langlois.) 
 
F/O Ken "Shag" Rees (150 Sqn, shot down 23/24 Oct 1942, Wellington LLL BK309, JN-N) and S/L Clive 
Saxelby (103 Sqn, shot down 7/8 Sep 1942, Halifax W1219 PM-S) were in the tunnel close to the foot of the 
final ladder, awaiting their turns to exit. On hearing the shots, Sax together with Joe Moul (416 Sqn, shot down 
23 Oct 1942, Spitfire Vb BL575), hared at top speed on all fours back the way they had come, closely followed 
by Rees, who believing a ferret might jump down the escape end and shoot along the tunnel, tried to kick out 
the shoring, with little success. Ken said 'As I was haring up the tunnel, all I could see was Sax's bum blocking 
the way and I expected a bayonet or a bullet up my arse at any moment!" 
 
(l am sorry to report that Clive Saxelby died on 22 Mar 1999. When I interviewed him at his home in Torquay in 
August 1997, he was quite genuinely astounded that anyone was interested in his time with 103 Sqn or his 
contribution to the Great Escape. His comment at the end of the evening was "I'm sorry I can't remember very 
much but I haven't thought about, or considered important, any of this, for forty years.") 
 



After a few minutes, all the men who had been waiting in the tunnel managed to return to Hut 104, where the 
shots were also heard. The escapers remaining, and those scrambling out of the tunnel entrance, burned their 
false papers and began to eat their carefully-saved rations, as the Germans would be sure to confiscate them. 
The ferrets could not find the entrance; their dog crawled into a pile of coats and fell asleep. Finally, the ferret 
Charlie Pilz crawled down from the far end. By this time the Germans were in Hut 104 and noises could be 
heard from underneath as Charlie shouted for help. Taking pity on him, the prisoners opened the trap and 
Charlie emerged, full of praise for the superb tunnel. 
 
ln the darkness, many of the escapers had not found the railway station entrance, which was unusually 
positioned in a dark recessed pedestrian tunnel, right under the actual platforms. Consequently, many of them 
missed their trains and were very unhappily hanging round the platforms at first light, trying to ignore each 
other. Eventually they caught the first trains out of Sagan, or having given up the wait, footslogged it over the 
horizon. Due to this sad delay, they were nearly all caught in the Sagan area. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



The Reprisal 
 
The balloon went up in spectacular style. A 'Grossfahndung' (national alert) was ordered with troops, police, 
Gestapo and Landwacht (Home Guard) alerted. Hitler, incensed, ordered that all those recaptured were to be 
shot. Goering, Feldmarschall Keitel, Maj-Gen Graevenitz and Maj-Gen Westhoff tried to persuade Hitler to 
see sense. Eventually he calmed down and decreed that 'more than half are to be shot and cremated.' This 
directive was teleprinted to Gestapo headquarters under Himmler's order, and a list of 50 was composed by 
General Nebe and Dr Hans Merton. 
 
One by one the escapers were recaptured and on Himmler's orders, handed over to the Gestapo. This was not 
the normal practice; usually, recaptured POWs were handed over to, and dealt with, by the civilian police. 
Singly, or in small groups, they were taken from civilian or military prisons, driven to remote locations, and shot 
whilst offered the chance to relieve themselves. The Gestapo groups submitted almost identical reports that 
'the prisoners whilst relieving themselves, bolted for freedom and were shot whilst trying to escape." 
This infamous expression has now passed into history as a euphemism for cold blooded murder. 
 
Three escapers, Per Bergsland (aka Rocky Rockland, because he Anglicised his name as the authorities 
were unsure how Norwegians serving in the RAF and then becoming POWs would be treated by the 
Germans), (332 Sqn, shot down Spitfire VB AB269 AH-D, during the Dieppe Landings), Jens Muller (331 Sqn, 
shot down 19 Jun 1942, Spitfire VB AR298 FN-N), and Bram van der Stok, succeeded in reaching safety. 
Bergsland and Muller reached neutral Sweden, and van der Stock arrived in Gibraltar via Holland, Belgium, 
France and Spain. Out of the 73 others, 50 were murdered by the Gestapo, 17 were returned to Sagan, four 
sent to Sachsenhausen, and two to Colditz Castle. Word reached England of the atrocity; in mid-July 1944 
Anthony Eden, British Foreign Minister, made a speech in the House of Commons declaring that the 
perpetrators of the crime would be brought to justice. 
 
At the camp, von Lindeiner-Wildau, the Kommandant, had surrendered to his superiors and been arrested. (He 
escaped execution, and was sentenced to two years fortress arrest, which he survived.) A new man, Oberst 
(Colonel) Braune, arrived. On 6 Apr 1944 he called G/C Massey to his office. Under different circumstances, 
von Lindeiner and Massey, both professional and honourable career officers, would have been friends. 
Normally such meetings were as cordial as the peculiar circumstances allowed, and were preceded with a 
formal handshake. This time and with a new man in command, there was none. With a clear reluctance, the 
new Kommandant announced via the interpreter, S/L 'Wank' Murray, (102 Sqn, shot down 8/9 Sep 1939, 
Whitley III K8950 DY-M) that he was ordered to inform the Senior British Officer that forty-one escaping officers 
had been "shot whilst trying to escape." Massey couldn't believe it. "How many were wounded?" he asked, 
staggered. "None, and I am not permitted to give you any further information, except that their bodies and 
personal effects will be returned to you," was the stilted reply. 
 
Prisoners and Luftwaffe alike were horrified. Hauptmann Pieber, the adjutant, afterwards said to Murray, "You 
must not think the Luftwaffe had anything to do with this ... we do not wish to be associated ... it is terrible." 
Later the list of names was posted and contained 47 names; an update a few days later added three more. 
The aftermath was a grim time with the Gestapo investigators poking their noses everywhere and prisoners 
and guards alike were very edgy. Pieber even told the POWs to "be very careful, you are in great danger; no 
more tricks." 
 
Later the Luftwaffe quietly allowed the prisoners to build a local memorial. This was designed by Wilton Todd 
(possibly 169 Sqn, shot down 15/16 Feb 1944, Mosquito II, HJ707 VI-B), and two of the stonemasons who 
carved the names were Dickie Head (possibly 139 Sqn, shot down 24/25 Nov 1943, Mosquito IV DZ614) and 
S/L John Hartnell-Beavis (10 Sqn, shot down 25/26 Jul 1943, Halifax II, JD207 ZA-V, a former architect) and 
erected in the local cemetery 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

 
 

Urns containing ashes of the Fifty were originally buried there, but after 
the war, were taken to the Old Garrison Cemetery at Poznan. (IWM) 

 
 
Both still remain today, but there were very few traces of the camp left when some veterans and survivors 
visited it all 50 years later. One local man, Franciszek Fedorowicz, has a museum of camp exhibits. Paul 
Tobolski, on visiting the memorial, corrected a small error on his father’s initials, and liberated one of the tiles 
from Harry's entrance. He had never known his father. 
 
An examination of the local road showed a shallow depression running at right angles across it, where 'Harry' 
runs 30 feet beneath. Some subsidence since 1944 has caused the depression to occur. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



The Survivors 
 
Evaded recapture and returned to England: F/Lt Peter Bergsland (Norwegian, 332 Sqn, shot down 19 Aug 
42, Spitfire Vb AB269, aka "Rocky Rockland") born 17 Jan 19, died 22 Jun 92. There is a fine study of this 
officer on page 61 of Norman Franks' book FIGHTER COMMAND LOSSES: Volume 2 (ISBN 1857800753) 
Jens Muller (Norwegian 331 Sqn) reached England via Sweden, in March. F/Lt Bob van der Stok (Dutch, 41 
Sqn, shot down 12 Apr 42, Spitfire Vb BL595) born 13 Oct 15, died 1992, reached England via Spain, in July. 
 
Recaptured and returned to Luft III, Sagan: F/Lt Albert Armstrong 109946 (268 Sqn) died 1987. F/Lt R. 
Anthony Bethell 120413 (268 Sqn, shot down near Alkmaar, 7 Dec 1942, Mustang AP212 "V”) born 9 Apr 22, 
living in Canada. F/Lt Leslie Charles James Brodrick 122363 (106 Sqn, shot down Stuttgart, 14/15 Apr 1943, 
Lancaster ED752 ZN-H) born May 1921, living in South Africa. F/O William J. Cameron J6487 (RCAF) since 
died. F/Lt Richard Sidney Albion Churchill 41255 (144 Sqn) born 1918. F/Lt Bernard "Pop" Green 76904, died 
1960s. Lamond (Carter?) information is welcomed. F/Lt Roy Brouard Langlois (12 Sqn, shot down 5 Aug 
1941, Wellington II, W5421 PH-G). F/Lt Henry Cuthbert "Johnny" Marshall 36103 …gave evidence (by then, a 
Wing Commander) at the trial of the accused murderers, died 1987. F/Lt Robert McBride (details unknown). 
F/Lt Alistair Thompson McDonald 115320, since died. Lt Alexander Desmond Neely (825 Sqn Fleet Air Arm) 
born Nov 1917. F/Lt Thomas Robert Nelson 70811 (37 Sqn) born Mar 1915, died late 1999. F/Lt Alfred Keith 
Ogilvie DFC 42872 (Canadian, 609 Sqn) born Mar 1915. Lt Douglas Arthur Poynter (Fleet Air Arm) born 
1921. F/Lt Laurence Reavell-Carter (49 Sqn) died 1985. F/Lt Paul Gordon Royle 42152 (53 Sqn RAAF). F/Lt 
Michael Moray Shand 391368 (485 Sqn RNZAF) born 18 Mar 15. F/L Alfred Burke Thompson 39585, died 
1985. S/Ldr Leonard Henry Trent VC (487 Sqn, shot down 3 May 1943, Ventura II AJ209, EG-G) died 1986. 
 
Recaptured and taken to Sachsenhausen, later returned to Luft III, Sagan: F/Lt Desmond Lancelot 
Plunkett 78847 (Zimbabwean, 218 Sqn, shot down Emden 20/21 Jun 1942, Stirling I W7530, HA-Q) born Feb 
1915. F/Lt Ray van Wymeersch 30268 (174 Sqn Free French Air Force, shot down 19 Aug 1942, Hurricane IIc 
BP299 "U") born Sep 1920, I am sorry to announce that van Wymeersch died in Jun 2000.  
 
Recaptured at sent to Oflag lVC, Colditz Gastle: F/Lt Bedrich Dvorak 82542, died 1960s. F/Lt lvor B. 
Tonder 83232 (Czech, 312 Sqn) born Apr 1913. 
 
Recaptured, sent to Sachsenhausen and later escaped to safety: W/C Harry Melville Arbuthnot "Wings" 
Day DSO OBE 5175, died 1977. Maj Johnnie Dodge DSO DSC MC, 1896 - 1960. Dodge, related to Winston 
Churchill, was released into Switzerland by the Germans in an unsuccessful attempt to sue for peace. F/Lt 
Sydney Henstings Dowse MC 86685 (PRU) born 1919. F/Lt Bertram Arthur James MC 42232 (9 Sqn, shot 
down Duisburg 5/6 Jun 1940, Wellington IA P9232 WS-M) born Apr 1915, living in Shropshire, England. 
 

 
 

F/Lt Bertram Arthur James 



Conditions and Kommandants 
 
 
It must be made clear that the German Luftwaffe, who were responsible for Air Force prisoners of war, 
maintained a degree of professional respect for fellow flyers, and the general attitude of the camp security 
officers and guards should not be confused with the SS or Gestapo. The Luftwaffe treated the POWs well, 
despite an erratic and inconsistent supply of food. 
 
Prisoners were handled quite fairly within the Geneva Convention, and the Kommandant, Oberst (Colonel) 
Friedrich-Wilhelm von Lindeiner-Wildau, was a professional and honourable soldier who won the respect of 
the senior prisoners. 
 

 
 

Oberst Friedrich-Wilhelm von Lindeiner-Wildau (IWM) 
 
 
He was 61 when the camp opened in May 1942, a capable, educated man who spoke good English. Having 
joined the army in 1908, and after being wounded three times in WW1, winning two Iron Cross awards, he left 
in 1919 and worked in several civilian posts, meanwhile marrying a Dutch baroness, whilst trying to steer clear 
of Nazi politics. Eventually he joined the Luftwaffe (the least Nazified of the three German forces) in 1937 as 
one of Goering's personal staff. Refused retirement, he found himself posted as Sagan Kommandant, with 
Major Gustav Simoleit as deputy. The first Kommandant, Colonel Stephani, had been quickly replaced when 
found to be unsuited to the task. 
 
Security was strict, but life was not intolerable, except for those for whom escape was a restless itch... this was 
reckoned to be just 25% of the camp population, and only 5% of those were considered to be dedicated 
escapers. The others would, however, work in support of any escape attempts. 
 
After several major expansions, Luft III eventually grew to hold 10,000 POWs; it had a size of 59 acres, with 5 
miles of perimeter fencing. 
 
 
 
 
 



 


